1969

Deputy Sheriffs Mutual Aid Association Of Salt Lake County, A Utah Nonprofit Corporation, and Parley W. Blight v. Salt Lake County Deputy Sheriffs Merit System Commission and Frank W. Pennock, Joseph Mazuran and Leslie B. White, M.D., Members Of The Said Commission : Brief of Appellants

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action for declaratory relief brought by the individually named plaintiff as a citizen and deputy sheriff in Salt Lake County and by the Deputy Sheriffs Mutual Aid Association of Salt Lake County, a non-profit corporation on behalf of its members who hereafter will be collectively referred to as respondents,

seeking an Order of the Third District Court to compel the defendant, Deputy Sheriffs Merit System Commission and the individually named defendants who are the three commissioners comprising said commission, hereafter collectively referred to as appellants, to furnish certain "registers" to respondents for their inspection. (R. 1-4).

DISPOSITION BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT

Following responsive pleadings (R. 5 & 6) a Request for Admissions (R. 7 & 8) and Response thereto (R. 15 & 16) respondents moved for Judgment on the Pleadings on the ground that the issue was largely a matter of law (R. 13 & 14). The Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was heard before the Honorable Merrill C. Faux on July 10, 1969, and the Motion was on the 12th of August, 1969, denied (R. 19 & R. 31). Subsequently, the matter having been placed on the regular trial calendar, was reheard and reargued before the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson on September 26, 1969, and Judge Anderson Ordered on September 29, 1969, the appellants to produce the registers for inspection and on the same day issued a Writ of Mandamus (R. 22 through 24 and R. 34). On the 2nd of October, 1969, appellants filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court (R. 17).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek by this appeal to clarify the inconsistent rulings of the two District Judges noted above on the ground that the registers in question are

not "public documents." That was a view Judge Faux took. Judge Anderson, on the other hand, considered them to be public documents and Ordered their disclosure. Appellants maintain the latter rule, which constituted judgment in the case on its merits, was error and should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Since as noted above this matter was largely an issue of law rather than facts, no evidence was taken before the Court below. The only facts, therefore, in the record are embodied in the Response to the Request for Admissions furnished and verified by appellants in response to respondents' Request. (R. 15 & 16)

ARGUMENT

Appellants submit that the registers in question are not public documents open to the citizenry for inspection for at least three specific reasons. At the outset, however, a foundational look at the Merit System Act, Chapter 30, Title 17, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is necessary. The law was adopted as an initiative measure voted by the citizenry and formally adopted November 8, 1960, its over-riding purpose being to remove from political patronage the appointment and promotion of deputy sheriffs in each of the State's 29 counties by creating commissions whose duties are, among others, by competitive examination to create a qualified list of candidates for the office of deputy sheriff as well as lists for promotion within the sheriff's department on

a basis of merit. Said lists are referred to in the Statute as "registers." There are two types: "eligible registers" (17-30-9) and "promotional registers" (17-30-12). The eligible register is a list of candidates for the office of deputy sheriff. The promotional registers are a list of candidates eligible for promotion to sergeant, lieutenant or captain within the department as the case may be.

Section 17-30-10 requires that the sheriff, as a vacancy occurs, request from the Merit System Commission the names of the highest three candidates presently appearing on the eligible register from which the sheriff or "appointing authority" shall select one of those certified.

Section 17-30-12 (3) requires that certification from promotional registers shall be made "in the same manner" as appointment from an eligible register. The appointing process, therefore, is the same for all registers.

Registers pursuant to the terms of 17-30-6, 7, 8 and 12, are prepared pursuant to the giving of competitive exams with these distinctions: Examinations for candidates who wish to qualify for the eligible register for the office of deputy sheriff take an open competitive examination which is advertised and open to the public; Candidates for promotion are also given a competitive exam but said exam is only open to merit system officers. The commission has, by its rules and regulations, required a three year in-rank additional qualification.

The promotional register and exam further differs from the eligible register exam in that the candidate's

seniority and "service rating" are added to the exam results. (17-30-12 (2)).

Section 17-30-8 provides in part "examination papers shall not be open to public inspection without court order, but an applicant may inspect his own papers at any time within 30 days after the mailing of notice of his grade." (Emphasis added) Clearly therefore the examinations themselves are not "public documents."

In the lower court respondents relied on provisions of Section 78-26-1 and 2 which describe "public documents" and provide "every citizen" has a right to inspect and copy any public writings. In addition, respondents cited the case of *Conover et al. vs. Board of Education of Nebo School District et al.*, 1 Utah 2d 375, 267 Pacific 2nd 768 (1954). That case construed the above two noted sections of our code. It is to be borne in mind, however, that the *Conover* case dealt with untranscribed minutes made by the secretary of the Board of Education of Nebo School District. The issue in that case was not whether said minutes were or were not "public documents" nor with whether the meetings of the school board were properly public meetings open to the citizenry, but rather *at what stage* such minutes became public documents. That is, plaintiffs in that action wished to inspect the untranscribed minutes of the board before they had been subsequently presented for approval and adopted formally by the board. All parties conceded that such minutes were indeed public records or public documents. That ruling accordingly, is not directly in point here.

There is some language, however, in the *Conover* case which does shed light on our present controversy. Speaking for the Court Justice Henriod observed:

“It would seem that, unless matters were of such delicate nature *or of the type where public policy dictates non-dissemination*, the meeting itself should be open to the public and press and information concerning what transpired there should be made available at least in a general way, to both at any time thereafter, by him whose duty requires its recordation.” (Emphasis added)

In that instance the court was discussing the proceedings in a public meeting, but suggested that public policy might in a given instance suggest or dictate “non-dissemination.”

As the first of the three arguments appellants wish to forward in support of their position that the registers in question were not properly ordered to be made public, it is submitted that the information from which the registers are prepared, i.e. competitive examinations are statutorily declared not to be open to public inspection as provided in Section 17-30-8 as noted above. As it relates to the eligibility register for new deputies the competitive examination results directly dictate and provide the order in which the eligible register for new deputies is to be composed. With regard to the promotional registers Section 17-30-12 (2) provides in part “The combined weights of service rating and seniority shall not be more than forty percent of the whole examination.” Which means that the competitive examination with regard to promotional registers comprises at

least 60% of the information and order from which said registers are to be composed.

Since the test scores predominantly effect the standing on the registers, to make public the register is to reveal comparative success on the examination. The actual score is all that would not be made public.

It would seem therefore almost axiomatic that to disclose the registers would by indirection be making public information, which by statute is expressly declared not to be publicly disclosed without court order. In that connection the statute has built in it the opportunity for application to court for inspection by any deputy or other party thought to be aggrieved in the examination and register-composing process. Specifically Section 17-30-20 provides:

“A person aggrieved by an act or failure to act of any merit system commission under this act may appeal to the district court, if he has exhausted his remedies of appeal to the commission. The courts may review questions of law and fact and may affirm, set aside or modify the ruling complained of.”

A California precedent which appellants maintain is directly in point here is of some interest. It is the case of *City and County of San Francisco et. al vs. Superior Court in and for the City and County of San Francisco* 238 Pacific 2nd 581 (1951). California's "public records" statute is much the same as Utah's. That case was a mandamus action brought by a selective group of city employees of the City of San Fran-

cisco wishing to inspect some records of the City Civil Service Commission. By statute the Commission was obliged to adopt a wage scale program for use by the city. Said scale was to be based upon the Commission's findings derived from salaries paid comparable professions and skills in private industry. In order to get the comparable salary information from selected private employers the City Civil Service Commission promised confidentiality to said employers regarding information received. The court there said in part:

“In this proceeding we are concerned with the question of the propriety of the respondent court's exercise of its power in granting the motion for inspection of the data relating to the source of the information agreed to be treated as confidential. There is no conflict in the evidence as to the adverse effect of the disclosure on the public interest. On the evidence and the law it is concluded that the petitioners are entitled to have the confidential matter deemed privileged under Section 1881 (5) of the Code of Civil procedure and that the respondent court misapplied and therefore exceeded its jurisdiction in granting the motion for inspection. What may be the relation of the agreements of confidence to the alleged cause of action or defense is not a matter for consideration at this time. Questions of compliance by the commission and the board of supervisors with the charter requirements are deemed not to be involved in this proceeding. They are more properly to be treated with the larger issues presented in the pending mandamus proceeding.”

In a separate concurring opinion, Justice Carter adds the following language:

“This is an indirect approach for which I see no reason. The charter is clear and specifies that all the data obtained by the Commission shall be set forth in its official records, and it should be so held at this time. If it is believed that data obtained by a promise of secrecy should not be used in this case even though the Commission had no authority to give such a pledge, the more pertinent basis for such is estoppel. That is to say, that one giving the information, having done so on the assurance that it was confidential, may now claim that the city cannot reverse its position and betray that confidence. If it thus will not be permitted to comply with the law, it follows that the wage scale cannot stand, for it is not based upon the public record of the data obtained. The result is that the scale fixed is invalid on that ground alone and the trial court should be so advised to guide its decision in the mandamus action . . .

“My view is that the city is estopped from disclosing the data obtained in confidence, but the ordinance fixing the wage scale, which is based upon said data, is invalid, and we should so hold. However, because of the pledge of secrecy the Commission should not be required to divulge the information and therefore its order to the contrary should be made ineffective by prohibition, as is done by the majority opinion.”

In the situation that confronted the court in the *San Francisco* case where in order for a wage scale ordinance to be valid “all data” relating to the same was by statute required to be published, even in that instance, the court held that where the information was derived on a promise of confidentiality the same should not be disclosed, even though as Justice Carter suggested

that logically meant the ordinance derived from such information would necessarily as well be invalid.

There is no provision in our Merit Act declaring the Commission's records to be public or that "data" from which registers are prepared, wage scales determined, etc. is open to inspection.

If public policy prohibits the disclosure, as in the *San Francisco* case, of information in part confidential by virtue of a promise of confidentiality, then clearly public policy should more emphatically require that a register, whose principle component is statutorily declared confidential, should as well remain non-public.

As it relates to the case before the bar, there is an additional public policy argument that would indicate such registers are not public documents. It is indicated in the language of *Conover vs. Board of Education of Nebo School District* 110 Utah 454, 175 Pacific 2nd 209. This case was an earlier ruling between the same two principle parties involved in the citation noted above. In this earlier *Conover* case this court said:

"It is one of the cardinal rules of construction that a statute must be construed with reference to the objects sought to be accomplished by it."

Reading the Merit System Act as a whole one inevitably concludes that its purpose is to require the hiring and promoting of officers in the sheriff's department on a basis of merit. Equally permeating the statute is the undercurrent that the records of individual deputies shall be maintained inviolate and con-

fidential. In addition to 17-30-8 relating to examinations is some interesting language at 17-30-19 which provides that upon disciplinary action, demotion, reduction in pay, etc., such penalized officers may petition for a hearing by the Merit Commission and continues "*if the officer so desires*, the hearing shall be public, and the parties may be represented by counsel," (emphasis added) indicating that it is the aggrieved officer's discretion as to whether or not the hearing shall be public.

In the same vein, the act provides that the sheriff (or "appointing authority") is only permitted to see three names from a register at a time. Section 17-30-10 (1) provides:

"When a peace officer is to be appointed (and parenthetically it is to be emphasized that the same procedure applies to promotions, as noted above) the appointing authority shall request the Merit System Commission to certify three eligible applicants for the position. The Commission shall thereupon certify to the appointing authority the names of the three applicants standing highest on the eligible register. The appointing authority shall select and appoint one of the persons so certified."

The last cited section brings us to appellants second argument:

If respondents succeed on appeal and the register or registers in question are ruled by this court to be public and open for any citizens inspection, clearly then the sheriff or appointing authority could equally demand and receive not three names of the highest appli-

cants as noted in the above section but each entire register. He would then be free to "go shopping" down the list. That is, he could invent reasons for passing over men standing higher on the register in order, for whatever reasons, political or otherwise, to promote or appoint names appearing downstream. This would, of course, obviously frustrate the overall intent of the statute and would be contrary to the language of the earlier *Conover* case cited above.

Such a situation is not entirely unlike the present practice of the district courts in furnishing jury lists. As this court is doubtless aware, the usage in the Third District is for the jury in a given civil or criminal case to be selected from the overall panel, usually not more than twelve to eighteen hours before the day of trial. Counsel is ordinarily furnished the names of his prospective jurors as of the morning of the trial upon arrival in court, finding the list on counsel table. Indeed, even when a special venire is requested, and the appropriate fee paid, such list of potential names in that event are generally not selected and furnished counsel more than 48 hours or so prior to the day of trial. One obvious and salutary result is that counsel are not thereby afforded extensive time in which to raise objections at the enpaneling of jurors in order to get them excused for cause, thereby impeding the orderly progress of the case load and the trial of cases. Given enough time and the names of potential jurors, counsel or their investigators could literally handpick and otherwise disqualify, or at least attempt so to do, undesirable potential jurors.

Returning to the case at bar, if this Court rules that the registers should be made public there would then exist the real possibility that appointment and promotion of deputy sheriffs would once again be made on a patronage and political basis. The appointing authority could continue to give lip service to a merit system by inventing reasons for by-passing men standing higher on the appropriate register.

The third argument of appellants it is submitted to justify this court reversing the order of the court below is that the Merit System Commission itself has a fiduciary duty to maintain the confidence of the deputy sheriffs and applicants themselves. That is, it is reasonable to suppose that some Merit System officer, eligible to take the promotional exam, for example, may have some considerable hesitancy so to do if he were aware that his ultimate standing as a result of the exam is to become public knowledge. It would seem manifestly unfair to all deputies that they on the one hand should be informed that the results of their examination, the test scores themselves, are confidential, while at the same time allowing the resulting registers prepared therefrom to be made public so that their relative standing with regards to other deputies taking the exam is known but the exact number on the test is confidential. Appellants in the past have refused to take such a stand. Indeed, they have felt it incumbent as a duty upon them to keep the registers as well as the examinations scores confidential. They consider the duty imposed upon them by the terms of Section 17-30-23, which in part provides:

“It shall be the duty of the Merit Service Commission to provide by rule for the operation and functioning of any activity within the purpose *and spirit* of the act which may be or may become necessary and proper and which is not specifically provided hereby.” (emphasis added)

Finally, it is again to be emphasized as is alleged in the uncontroverted Response for Request of Admissions certified by the chairman of the Merit System Commission, which for the purpose of this appeal must be accepted as an admitted fact, as follows :

“Affiant specifically alleges that each and every deputy sheriff whose name appears on any register in the custody of the Merit Commission is free upon personal inquiry to ascertain his standing on said register and to inspect the contents of his file kept at the office of said Commission. Many such deputy sheriffs have so inquired and been so informed and the Commission will continue to make available such records on an individual basis to the deputies concerned.” (R. 15 and 16)

CONCLUSION

In Conclusion, therefore, appellants submit that the registers in question are not public documents because:

1. The principle component i.e. competitive examination results are expressly not public documents.
2. To rule the registers public documents would frustrate the basic intent and purposes of the Merit Systems Act.

3. It may well have an effect of discouraging officers otherwise qualified for promotion from submitting to examination therefor for fear of some public embarrassment.

For the foregoing reasons appellants respectfully request that the decisions of the district court be reversed and that the registers in question be declared not public documents.