1969

Deputy Sheriffs Mutual Aid Association Of Salt Lake County, A Utah Nonprofit Corporation, and Parley W. Blight v. Salt Lake County Deputy Sheriffs Merit System Commission and Frank W. Pennock, Joseph Mazuran and Leslie B. White, M.D., Members Of The Said Commission : Brief of Plaintiffs and Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE ELIGIBLE AND PROMOTIONAL REGISTERS MAINTAINED BY THE MERIT SYSTEM COMMISSION ARE PUBLIC DOCUMENTS AND BY STATUTES OF THIS STATE APPELLANTS ARE REQUIRED TO

PERMIT THEIR INSPECTION BY INTERESTED CITIZENS.

This entire case is premised on the broad base that the public's business, conducted by the public's servants, should be revealed to the public and that suspicion, corruption, and inefficient administration of public business can be avoided by making official acts open to public scrutiny. It must be noted at the threshold, however, that no charges of corruption are made in this case. There is in this case no allegation that the defendants have falsified the registers or been guilty of any improper conduct, other than refusal to permit inspection of the registers. This is not to say, however, that such refusal does not create suspicion, engender a lack of confidence in the merit system, and lead to confusion and misunderstanding and in other circumstances may well lead to an opportunity for corruption.

This fundamental premise of the public's right to know has been for many years recognized by the statutes of this State. The Utah Code states clearly and simply:

"Every citizen has a right to inspect and take a copy of any public writing of this state except as otherwise expressly provided by statute." and "Every public officer having the custody of a public writing which a citizen has the right to inspect is bound to give him, on demand, a certified copy of it, on payment of the legal fees

therefor." §§ 78-26-2, 3, *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953.

"Public writings" are defined to include "other official documents." § 78-26-1 (3), *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953. Appellants concede that the eligible and promotional registers are public documents which they are required by statute to maintain. It is generally conceded that under statutes such as this if a record is required to be kept, either by statute or by some other proper authority, it is a public record. See *Conover v. Board of Education of Nebo School District*, 1 Ut.2d 375, 267 P.2d 768, 770 (1954); *Kyburg v. Perkins*, 6 Cal. 674 (1856); *Walker v. Superior Court*, 155 Cal. App. 2d 134, 317 P.2d 130 (1957). Thus, appellants may refuse inspection only if such refusal is "otherwise expressly provided by statute." § 78-36-2, *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953, (emphasis added.)

There is no provision in the Utah Code, as there was in the California Code in the sole case relied upon by appellants, that provides that communications made to a public official which would otherwise be subject to inspection may be withheld if the communications were made to the official "in official confidence when the public interest would suffer by the disclosure." *City and County of San Francisco v. Superior Court*, 38 Cal.2d 156, 238 P.2d 581 (1951). The California statutory provisions are otherwise similar to those of Utah and the omission of this provision by Utah is significant. Appellants here can cite no Utah statutory authority whatsoever even though the controlling statute requires an *express* exception to its mandate.

The California decision relied upon by appellants is further distinguished upon the ground that the information there had been given to the public body on a promise of confidentiality that the information would not be disclosed (thus placing the situation clearly within the quoted California statutory exception.) But, here, there is no attempt to obtain any confidential information. We seek only the opportunity to examine a list of names declared by the Merit System Commission to be eligible for appointment or promotion as deputy sheriffs. When applying for a competitive appointment or promotion a candidate obviously knows that he will be ranked on the register in order of the merits of his qualifications—in the case of the promotional registers, as conceded by appellants, these qualifications are determined in part by other factors in addition to the written score. It is almost absurd to suggest any necessity for keeping the lists confidential or that a candidate would expect such secrecy.

**There is no statutory exception
permitting concealment of the registers**

The appellants seek to support their refusal to make these lists available by reliance upon that portion of the Merit System Act which provides that "examination papers shall not be open to public inspection without court order." The entire section pertaining to examination papers reads:

"All examination papers shall remain the property of the commission, and shall be preserved

until the expiration of the eligible register for the preparation of which an examination is given. Examination papers shall not be open to public inspection without court order, but an applicant may inspect his own papers at any time within thirty days after the mailing of notice of his grade. The appointing authority may inspect the papers of an eligible applicant certified for appointment."

§ 17-30-8, *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953.

This is obviously referring to the papers of the written competitive examination required by an earlier section [17-30-6] pertaining to applicants for initial appointment as deputy sheriffs and not to the promotional examination required by a later section [17-30-12] for establishment of the promotional registers. But even if it is interpreted to also apply to the promotional examination papers, that is irrelevant, because no one is here seeking revelation of any "examination papers." We do seek, however, inspection of the "eligible register" and the "promotional register" provided for by Sections 17-30-9 and 17-30-12, respectively. There is no statement in the statute that the *registers* are not open to public inspection. Appellants *infer* such requirement from the requirement that an individual's *examination papers* not be revealed. Appellants' very argument admits the error of their position. The statute requires an *express* exception, but appellants' attempt to meet this requirement by an *inferred* exception and that suggested inference is one that is, at best, strained. The cases interpreting the word "express" are legion. It is defined as that which is "given in direct terms;

not implied; not dubious; directly stated; not implied or left to inference; . . ." *State v. Zangerle*, 101 Ohio 235, 128 N.E. 165, 167 (1920). See also, *Le Ballister v. Redwood Theatres*, 1 C.A. 2d 447, 36 P.2d 827 (1934); *R. J. Cardinal Co. v. Ritchie*, 218 C.A. 2d 124, 32 Cal. Repr. 545, 552 (1963); *Hawkins v. Mattes*, 171 Okl. 186, 41 P.2d 880, 891 (1935); *McKeever v. Oregon Mortgage Co.*, 60 Mont. 270, 198 P. 752, 753 (1921); *St. Louis Union Trust Co. v. Hill*, 336 Mo. 17, 76 S.W. 2d 685, 689 (1934); *Baxter v. Baxter*, 195 N.E. 2d 877, 882 (Ind. App. 1964); *Application of Lamb*, 67 N.J. Super. 39, 169 A.2d 822, 826, *affd.*, 34 N.J. 448, 170 A.2d 34 (1961).

Appellants argue that because the test papers are not to be revealed then neither can the score be revealed and because the score cannot be revealed then neither can the register be revealed because, although the register would not even reveal the score it would reveal the relative position of each man on the list. But that is not what the statute says. In the first place, the statute does not prohibit revelation of the score or the results of the examination; but not even this second step in appellants' tortious argument is involved here. The statute's exception to the fundamental rule requiring that public papers be open for inspection is express and narrow and refers only to the written examination papers. The same section of the statute which provides that examination papers shall not be open to public inspection imposes no such restriction when speaking about the registers. Had it been intended that the registers should also not be made public the words for so stating were mani-

lest in this statute itself but were specifically and knowingly omitted when speaking about the registers.

Appellants are seeking to construe a statute that is clear and unambiguous. Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous there is no occasion to resort to rules of construction. 50 *Am. Jur. Statutes*, § 225. But if the rules of construction are to be resorted to, those rules clearly dictate that the registers shall be open for inspection.

The Commission by prior interpretation of the statute expressly permitted inspection

It is significant that even the Merit System Commission itself, of which two of the present commissioners were members, prior to the appointment of its present chairman and revision of its *Rules and Regulations* in July, 1967, provided in its *Rules and Regulations* published September 1, 1961 that the registers would be open for inspection by all interested parties. The earlier Rules and Regulations referred to the registers as "Eligible Lists" and Rule 4 in pertinent part read:

"4.01 Lists Required.

A register of eligibles shall be prepared and maintained by the Commission for all openings and promotions for Deputy Sheriffs.

"4.02 Order of Priority.

The names of applicants shall be entered upon the eligible list in accordance with their

standing in the examinations, including credit for leadership, merit rating, seniority, character, and demeanor when applicable and said eligible lists shall include the names and final scores of all those who passed the examinations and shall be open to all interested parties, at the office of the Commission.”

(Rules and Regulations for the Merit Service Commission for Salt Lake County Deputy Sheriffs, published September 1, 1961)

Thus, the statement in appellants' brief (page 13) that they "in the past have refused" to make the registers public and "have felt it incumbent as a duty upon them to keep the registers as well as the examination scores confidential" is just not the fact.² It is a fundamental rule that in determining the meaning and defining the effect of particular words and phrases in statutes, ordinances, and regulations a practical construction by the officers charged with enforcing the matter being construed is given great weight. See 37 *Am. Jur. Municipal Corporations* § 187; 50 *Am. Jur. Statutes* § 319. This is especially so where the statute, ordinance, or regulation is ambiguous. At

²The prior *Rules and Regulations* were not made part of the record in this proceeding but it is anticipated that appellants will not object to this reference. In any event, the Court should be able to take judicial notice of printed regulations of this public body. See McCormack, *Handbook of Law of Evidence* (1954) pp. 695-6 and *Final Draft of the Rules of Evidence*, prepared by Supreme Court Committee on Uniform Rules of Evidence (1959), Rules 9 and 12. In the alternative, it is respectfully requested that this be treated as a request for modification of the record pursuant to Rule 75(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and that the *Rules and Regulations* be incorporated as part of the record.

best all that appellants' argument does is introduce an ambiguity which should be resolved by the long interpretation obviously placed on the statute by the prior members of the Commission, including two of its present members, before appointment of its present chairman.

The plain meaning of the statute is clear. The obligation of the Court in interpreting and construing statutes is to ascertain and declare the intention of the legislature. In doing so, the Court may not read into the statute, as appellants are asking it to do, anything which is not the manifest intention of those enacting the statute as gathered from the act itself; statutes should not be construed any more broadly than their terms require. The Court may not infer that which is not intended to be there. 50 *Am. Jur. Statutes* §§ 223, 229, 243. As previously stated by this Court:

The language of the statute, as it seems to us, is plain and its meaning clear, in which case there is no room for construction or license to search for its meaning beyond the statute itself and requires the application of the familiar maxim, that a thing expressed puts an end to implication (25 R.C.L. 958), and that no motive, purpose, or intent can be imputed to the Legislature in the enactment of a law other than such as are apparent upon the face and to be gathered from the terms of the law itself.

Riches v. Hadlock, 80 Ut. 265, 15 P.2d 238 at 296 (1932).

POINT TWO

PUBLIC POLICY REQUIRES PUBLICATION
OF THE ELIGIBLE AND PROMOTIONAL
REGISTERS.

There can be no quarrel with appellants' statement that the purpose of the Merit System Act "is to require the hiring and promoting of officers in the sheriff's department on a basis of merit." This is amply manifest by the title to the Act, which reads:

An act to establish the qualification, appointment, promotion, transfer, demotion, suspension, removal, discipline, re-employment and job tenure of deputy sheriffs of the several counties of the state of Utah based on merit; to provide for the establishment of merit system commissions in the several counties and to set forth the duties thereof and to improve law enforcement by professionalizing those engaged in law enforcement as employees of the several counties. (See Annotators notes to Section 17-30-1, *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953.)

Respondents heartily subscribe to this statement of purpose and it is because of their strong belief in this Act and its purpose that this action is brought. The quarrel comes with the appellants' contentions that the single most important product of the statute is to be kept secret. Public policy, rather than permitting such secrecy as advocated by appellants, cries for the publication of the eligible and promotional lists.

The appellants argue "that the registers in question are not public documents open to the citizenry for inspection" because of the provisions of the Merit System Act and "its over-riding purpose being to remove from political patronage the appointment and promotion of deputy sheriffs." (Brief of Appellants, p. 3.) It is obvious, however, that the Merit System Commission may not be any more immune to the disease of political patronage than is the Sheriff and his staff or any other administrator or commission. The public is interested in having its police officers hired and promoted on the basis of merit. To accomplish this, the public has statutorily supplemented the Sheriff's subjective evaluation of his men with the objective evaluation of them through competitive examinations administered by the Commission. The public has the right to scrutinize the evaluation of the men by the Merit System Commission to insure that it remains objective and impartial. We may well ask, as the New York Court did in a proceeding before it: "Instead of resisting a request for light, the commissioners might rather be expected to welcome an opportunity to justify their action; . . . 'Why was preference thus given?' . . . it can be answered fully only by a disclosure of all the documents which were the basis of action." *Egan v. Board of Water Supply*, 205 N.Y. 147, 98 N.E. 467 (1912). Indeed the appellants appropriately cite at page 10 of their Brief the prior words of this Court:

"It is one of the cardinal rules of construction that a statute must be construed with reference to the objects sought to be accomplished by it."

Conover v. Board of Education of Nebo School Dist., 110 Ut. 454, 175 P.2d 209, 210 (1946) quoting from *Crockett v. Board of Education of Carbon County*, 58 Ut. 303, 199 P. 158, 159 (1921).

The appellants attempt to blunt the effect of their refusal to permit inspection of the lists by saying that the rules do permit an individual deputy to see his examination papers (even this is required by statute) and to learn of *his* individual position on the register without learning who else is on the list or in what positions. That is little comfort if there is a suspicion that appointments or promotions of others may not be in accord with the register, or that there may have been changes or amendments to the registers. A position on the register is a relative thing and it does very little good to know only one's own position. In the past vigilant efforts of some members of the Deputy Sheriffs Mutual Aid Association have resulted in errors on the lists being corrected by the Merit System Commission.³ Publication of the lists would avoid some of these problems and, indeed, may reveal more that are concealed by the refusal to make the lists public.

³For example, see affidavit of Deputy Dale K. Gates reprinted in appendix hereto. It should be noted that the problem arising from the circumstance shown by the affidavit of Deputy Gates was in part resolved by the Order of Judge Anderson in this case, entered after the appeal had been filed and after argument on a motion of respondents, permitting examination of a part of the list by respondents' counsel. It should also be noted that this case does not in any way involve a dispute as to which list of names involved in the Gates situation is accurate. That is a matter entirely separate from this proceeding. Apparently the Sheriff was using an old list given him by the Commission but which had subsequently been amended.

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